1995

Wendalyn Ence nka Wendalyn Smith v. Larry D. Ence : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

Jurisdiction to hear this appeal is conferred upon this court by § 78-2a-3 (2)(h), Utah Code Annotated, as amended, which gives the Utah Court of Appeals appellate jurisdiction over appeals from district courts involving divorce, property division and support.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Point I Was the trial court's alimony award of \$1,700 per month for twenty-one (21) years an abuse of discretion?

A. Are the trial court's Findings of Fact insufficient to support its alimony award?

B. Did the court err in failing to enter specific detailed Findings of

Fact showing how it arrived at the amount and duration of the alimony award?

C. Did the trial court err in finding that Mr. Ence contributed significantly and substantially to his wife's attendance at medical school?

Point II What factors should the trial court follow when deciding whether or not to make a compensation adjustment in dividing the marital property and awarding alimony?

STANDARD OF REVIEW FOR ALL ISSUES

A trial court's award of alimony is committed to the sound discretion of that court, and will not be disturbed absent a clear and prejudicial abuse of discretion. Breinholt v. Breinholt, 905 P.2d 877, 276 Utah Adv. Rep. 38, 39 (Utah App. 1995).

In setting an award of alimony, the trial court must at least consider four factors: (1) the financial condition and needs of the recipient spouse, (2) recipient's earning capacity or ability to produce income, (3) the ability of the payor spouse to provide support, and (4) the length of the marriage. Utah Code Annotated, § 30-3-5(7)(a).

The trial court is required to enter sufficient findings on all factors as well as on all material issues unless the facts in the record are clear, uncontroverted, and capable of supporting only a finding in favor of the judgment. Howell v. Howell, 806 P.2d 1209, 1213 (Utah App. 1991), cert. denied, 817 P.2d 327 (Utah 1991). If the trial court does not meet these requirements, the Appellate court must reverse unless the record is clear and uncontroverted such as to allow the reviewing court to apply the above factors as a matter of law on appeal. If the trial court considers the above

described factors in setting an award of alimony, the award will not be disturbed absent a showing that such a serious inequity has resulted as to manifest a clear abuse of discretion.

The trial court must make adequate and specific Findings of Fact justifying an alimony award and the award must also comply with the relevant legal principles governing alimony awards. Johnson v. Johnson, 855 P.2d 250, 252 (Utah App. 1993).

A court's Findings of Fact are subject to the clearly erroneous standard of review and must be sufficiently detailed and include enough subsidiary facts to disclose the steps by which the ultimate conclusions on each factual issue was reached. Breinholt, 276 Utah Adv. Rep. at 41. A trial court's Conclusions of Law is reviewed for correctness, according no deference to the trial court. Breinholt, 276 Utah Adv. Rep. at 39.

A finding is clearly erroneous when, even though there is evidence to support it, the reviewing court is left with the definite and firm conviction that a mistake has been committed. Schindler v. Schindler, 776 P.2d 84, 88, (Utah App. 1989).

For a successful attack on the trial court's Findings of Fact, an Appellant must marshal all the evidence in support of the trial court's findings and then demonstrate that, even viewing it in the light most favorable to the court below, the evidence is insufficient to support the findings. Scharaf v. M.G. Corp., 700 P 2d 1068 (Utah 1985).

Although, Appellate courts may weigh the evidence and substitute their

judgment for that of the trial court in divorce actions, this is not done lightly and merely because its judgment may differ from that of the trial judge. Peterson v. Peterson, 737 P.2d 237, 239 (Utah App. 1987). A finding is clearly erroneous only if the finding is without adequate support or induced by an erroneous view of the law. State v. Walker, 743 P.2d 191, 193 (Utah 1987).

DETERMINATIVE STATUTES

Section 30-3-5-(1), Utah Code Annotated, as amended:

When a decree of divorce is rendered, the court may include in it equitable orders relating to the children, property, and parties . . .

Section 30-3-5-(3), Utah Code Annotated, as amended:

The court has continuing jurisdiction to make subsequent changes or new orders for the support and maintenance of the parties,

Section 30-3-5-(7)(a), Utah Code Annotated, as amended:

The court shall consider at least the following factors in determining alimony:

- i.) The financial conditions and needs of the recipient spouse;
- ii.) The recipient's earning capacity or ability to produce income;
- iii.) The ability of the payor spouse to provide support; and
- iv.) The length of the marriage.

Section 30-3-5-(7)(c), Utah Code Annotated, as amended:

As a general rule, the court should look to the standard of living, existing at the time of separation, in determining alimony in accordance with subsection (a). However, the court shall consider all relevant facts and equitable principles and may, in its discretion, base alimony on the standard of living that existed at the time of trial. In marriages of short duration, when no children have been conceived or born during the marriage, the court may consider the standard of living that existed at the time of the marriage.

Section 30-3-5-(7)(e), Utah Code Annotated, as amended:

When a marriage of long duration dissolves on a threshold of a major change

in the income of one of the spouses due to the collective efforts of both, that change shall be considered in dividing the marital property and determining the amount of alimony. If one spouse's earning capacity has been greatly enhanced through the efforts of both spouses during the marriage, the court may make a compensating adjustment in dividing the marital property and awarding alimony.

Section 78--45-(3), Utah Code Annotated, as amended:

Every father shall support his child; and every man shall support his wife when she is in need.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Nature of the Case. This is an appeal from a final judgment of a decree of divorce and related relief, and specifically, from the amount and duration of the alimony award.

2. Course of the Proceedings. Plaintiff/Appellant, Wendalyn Smith, hereafter referred to as Dr. Smith, filed a Complaint seeking a divorce from Mr. Ence in Weber County District court on January 5, 1995, and Mr. Ence filed an Answer on February 21, 1995. After discovery and hearings, a trial was held on September 8, 1995, before the Honorable Michael J. Glasmann, presiding. On September 28, 1995, a further hearing was held via telephone conference whereby the court delivered its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Order.

3. Disposition at trial court. The Decree of Divorce was entered on November 13, 1995, awarding defendant, Mr. Ence, \$1,700 per month as alimony for a period of twenty-one (21) years. Mr. Ence's defined contribution and defined benefit plans were divided between the parties and a Qualified Domestic Relations Order was ordered to be issued. The equity in the parties' home in Tucson, Arizona, was to be divided equally with the net proceeds after sale.

4. Statement of Facts. The parties married on November 25, 1974, in Page, Arizona. (Tr. at 17). Dr. Smith was twenty-one (21) and Mr. Ence was thirty-five (35). (Tr. at 133). At the time of the marriage, Dr. Smith was working in a hospital business office as a secretary and, later in 1975, worked as a secretary for the Ram Valley Consolidated School District. (Tr. at 20, 21). Except for when he quit working in 1991, Mr. Ence worked full-time in construction at all times which he worked during the marriage as a heavy equipment operator and has worked in this field since 1956. (Tr. at 21, 134).

The parties have jointly raised two (2) children to maturity during this marriage, to-wit: Tyson, born October 20, 1976, and Kelly, born November 14, 1977. (Tr. at 18, 21, 138). After the youngest child was born in 1977, Dr. Smith worked part-time at home as a typist for the local airport. (Tr. at 21). In January of 1981, she started attending Glendale Community College in Glendale, Arizona, and transferred to Grand Canyon University in 1983. (Tr. at 22). Dr. Smith obtained her undergraduate degree in May of 1985. (Tr. at 23, 139).

Dr. Smith worked part-time during the first semester of college. (Tr. at 22). During the period of approximately May 1981 through May of 1985, she attended college, did not work outside the home, but took full responsibility for the housework, child care, laundry and cooking. (Tr. at 23-25, 78-81, 139). Mr. Ence continued to work in construction with various jobs taking him out of town for a few days at a time. (Tr. at 23).

Dr. Smith borrowed approximately \$6,000 to finance her college education,

\$1,000 from Grand Canyon University and \$5,000 from Lincoln Center and also received scholarships. (Tr. at 25; Tr. Exhibits P1 and P2). These loans were subsequently repaid by Dr. Smith in December 1994 from her post residency earnings and after Mr. Ence had stopped working and earning. (Tr. at 39).

For two years after she completed her undergraduate degree, Dr. Smith worked full time as an estimator for an industrial truss company, and then as a substitute teacher, earning approximately \$15,000 per year. (Tr. at 27, 28, 139; Tr. Exhibits P-3 through P-8).

In 1987, the parties bought a house in Tucson, Arizona, and Dr. Smith and the children, ages 10 and 9 at the time, moved to Tucson, Arizona in July of that year for her entry into medical school at the University of Arizona in Tucson, . (Tr. at 29, 30). Mr. Ence continued to work in Phoenix, sometimes going to Tucson on weekends while Dr. Smith attended medical school full-time and continued as the children's primary care giver. (Tr. at 30). Mr. Ence's work consisted of running a crane and driving a pick-up truck 50,000 miles a year which took him out of the Phoenix area on occasion. (Tr. at 30, 140). If Mr. Ence had a job to do while in Tucson or nearby, he came home on weekdays. (Tr. at 30, 142). The company Mr. Ence worked for had a branch in Tucson, and the parties discussed his move to Tucson. (Tr. at 82).

Since Mr. Ence was not living in Tucson and not available to help with the children, Dr. Smith assumed full responsibility for their care. During Dr. Smith's first two years of medical school, she was able to be home with the children when they were home. (Tr. at 80, 81). However, during her third and fourth years, she was

required to spend more hours at the hospital resulting in her hiring a first year medical student to live in the home and to take care of the children in exchange for the student's room and board. (Tr. at 82).

Dr. Smith borrowed approximately \$49,000 to finance her medical school education. (Tr. at 30, 32; Tr. Exhibits P9 through 11). Her tuition for medical school was \$21,734 and, with books and miscellaneous expenses, the total cost was \$23,000. (Id.). The remaining \$26,000 went to meet household expenses. (Tr. at 32).

Dr. Smith has paid back a part of the money she borrowed for medical school and is still paying it back by working at her current post residency employment with the Medical Arts Clinic in Brigham City. (Tr. at 32 through 38; Tr. Exhibit P12). A part of Dr. Smith's tuition, amounting to \$1,252.50, was paid off through savings acquired during her residency and the first few months of employment at the Medical Arts Clinic while Mr. Ence was not working. (Tr. at 39; Tr. Exhibit P11).

While Dr. Smith was in medical school, Mr. Ence continued in construction work earning approximately \$45,000 in 1987, \$41,000 in 1988, and \$36,000 in 1989 and 1990. (Tr. at 164, 165; Tr. Exhibits P4 through P7). In 1989, Mr. Ence's hourly wages were reduced from \$18.52 per hour to \$14.50 per hour when another company bought out the company he worked for. (Tr. at 145).

Dr. Smith graduated from medical school in May 1991 and moved to Ogden, Utah, in June, 1991, to fulfill her internship and residency requirements at McKay Dee Hospital. (Tr. at 40). She did her internship and residency from June 1991 through

June 1994. In the late summer or fall of 1991, Mr. Ence worked for approximately five weeks, then did not work again until approximately three and one-half years later, which was after the parties had separated and Dr. Smith had filed for divorce. (Tr. at 41, 42, 170).

From July 1991 to July 1994, Dr. Smith's income from her residency program and from extra jobs totally supported the family. Total family income in 1991 was \$30,242.00 with \$15,385 earned by Dr. Smith as a resident and her extra work at blood drives. (Tr. Exhibit P8). Mr. Ence quit his job in Phoenix a month before the family moved to Utah in order to help with the move; he was earning \$15.00 per hour at the time. (Tr. at 147). Dr. Smith earned approximately \$34,000 in 1992 while Mr. Ence received \$4,455 from unemployment. (Tr. Exhibit P13). Her moonlighting was in addition to her regular hours of up to one hundred (100) hours a week. (Tr. at 46)

In 1993, Dr. Smith earned a total of \$60,035. Approximately Thirty Thousand (\$30,000) was earnings from her regular residency work and the rest came from moonlighting at clinics in North Ogden and Fairfield, and blood drives. (Tr. at 46, 47; Tr. Exhibit P14).

In her third year of residency, Dr. Smith also worked in Malad, Idaho, in the emergency room of a hospital one weekend per month which entailed a sixty (60) hour weekend. This work was in addition to her regular Monday through Friday work in Ogden. (Tr. at 47, 151).

In 1994, Dr. Smith earned a total of \$106,381. (Tr. at 48; Tr. Exhibit P15). She earned \$65,700 from her employment at McKay Dee Hospital and the Medical Arts

Center and earned \$40,000 moonlighting in Malad, Idaho. At the end of June 1994, she completed her residency and took a month off to take her board exam, and a vacation, and then started working August 1, 1994, at the Medical Arts Clinic in Brigham City, working a forty (40) hour week. (Tr. at 48, 49).

The parties separated in December, 1994. At the time of trial, September 1995, Dr. Smith was earning \$120,000 a year. (Tr. at 76). Dr. Smith has a written employment contract with the clinic in Brigham City which expires in August 1997. (Tr. at 75; Tr. Exhibit P12). Under her employment contract, the hospital pays all of her overhead, money for continuing education and her medical malpractice insurance; this will terminate when her contract ends and she may choose to look for work elsewhere. (Tr. at 77).

The benefits Dr. Smith receives are the result of the hospital's recruiting practices where they seek to entice medical doctors to Brigham City, which is considered a rural area. (Tr. at 78). If she had stayed in Ogden, Dr. Smith would have received \$90,000 per year but would not receive loan repayment provisions in the contract. (Tr. at 78).

At the time of trial, Mr. Ence was earning \$12.00 per hour, operating heavy equipment in St. George, Utah since March, 1995. (Tr. at 170, 173). He tried to get his old job back paying \$15.00 per hour in Arizona, but it was not available and he could not find other work in Arizona. (Id).

Throughout the marriage and up to the time the parties separated in December 1994, the parties' lifestyle was modest. When the parties first married, they lived in a

small mobile home and moved to a small two bedroom, 1,100 square foot house when the children were young, which house they later sold for \$32,000. (Tr. at 86). The parties lived in mobile homes thereafter until they bought the Tucson home. (Tr. at 87). Just prior to living in the Tucson home, the parties lived in a single 14 x 70 mobile home in Phoenix. (Tr. at 29, 140). When Dr. Smith moved to Tucson, the parties bought a three bedroom , 1,500 square foot home on an acre of land, paying \$92,000 for it. (Tr. at 86, 87). Mr. Ence stayed in Phoenix and lived in a 19' camping trailer on his parent's land paying them a little to help with the electric bill and eating meals with them at times. (Tr. at 116, 141, 166). When the parties moved to Ogden, they rented a house for \$745 per month. (Tr. at 87). Except for a trip to Alaska in 1994, the parties' vacations were usually spent visiting relatives. (Tr. at 49, 88). They purchased moderately priced cars and did not buy expensive clothes. (Tr. at 88, 89).

In September 1994, the older child, Ty, entered his first year at Utah State, living in a private dorm room and the cost for his education was between Five and Six Thousand (\$5,000 and \$6,000) dollars the first year he attended which was paid for by Dr. Smith. (Tr. at 90). Ty had finished high school in three years with straight A's. (Tr. at 91). At the time of trial, Dr. Smith was also paying for the youngest child's education who is attending Weber State University and living at home. (Tr. at 90, 91). From the time Mr. Ence quit working in 1991 and continuing to the time of trial, Dr. Smith was the sole support of the children. (Tr. at 95).

At trial, Dr. Smith submitted an exhibit showing her current expenses of \$4,104 per month and anticipated monthly expenses of approximately \$5,454 per month.

(Tr. at 102-105; Tr. Exhibit P17). Mr. Ence did not dispute her monthly expenses nor her anticipated monthly expenses. Mr. Ence submitted no testimony or exhibits showing his monthly expenses or his need for any particular amount of money. (Tr. at 171, 172).

The trial court rendered its decision and entered Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law set forth in the Addendum.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I. The trial court abused its discretion in awarding alimony of \$1,700 per month for 21 years.

A. The trial court failed to analyze the alimony award using the three Jones factors which must be considered in every award of alimony. Mr. Ence produced no evidence at trial showing his financial condition or his need for alimony and the court failed to analyze the award based on his need. As to his earning capacity or ability to produce income, the court found Mr. Ence has a present net income of \$1,600 per month, \$25,000 per year, but made no findings concerning his earning capacity. As to the third factor, the court apparently recognized that Dr. Smith has the ability to pay alimony but, made no findings based upon her financial needs or her financial situation.

B. The trial court failed to make detailed and specific Findings of Fact to support the alimony award. Martinez v. Martinez, 818 P.2d 538, 542 (Utah 1991) and Utah Code Annotated Section 30-3-5(7)(e) allows the court the discretion to make a compensation adjustment in dividing the marital property and in awarding alimony

when there is, at the end of the marriage, drastic income changes due to the collective efforts of both spouses. The court must give these situations some weight in fashioning an award, but it has discretion in determining the appropriate adjustment and no particular result is mandated. However, the court cannot give an award which reflects a property interest in the other spouse's earning potential or advanced degree. Martinez, 818 P.2d at 542.

The history of alimony decisions in Utah shows that the supporting, i.e., non-professional spouse is to be considered for a Martinez-type award only in situations where the supporting spouse becomes economically disadvantaged in a virtually absolute sense in that she was unable to earn a living either at all or above minimum wage. The supporting spouse must be either in need of support for rehabilitation purposes, or have enjoyed the increased standard of living for a significant period of time. These circumstances were not found by the trial court in this case.

Because the facts in the present case are not applicable to the situations requiring Martinez-type compensation, it was an abuse of discretion for the trial court to enter the challenged alimony award. The court, for the most part, ignored the factors as required in Jones and decide to "reward" Mr. Ence with a large alimony award which is inconsistent with the Martinez decision and the cases preceding it. The trial court abused its discretion as there is no evidence that Mr. Ence made career or education sacrifices, or that he reduced his standard of living to enable Dr. Smith to obtain her degree. There is no evidence that Mr. Ence did anything other than what he did all along, providing support as he was legally obligated to do.

C. The trial court erred in finding that Mr. Ence contributed significantly and substantially to his wife's attendance at medical school. It found that Dr. Smith was not the only one to put herself through medical school and that both parties contributed significantly and substantially to her attendance at medical school as well as the common family good. The court, however, did not specify any particular contributions Mr. Ence made to Dr. Smith's education which would explain its award of alimony even though it specified Dr. Smith's contributions. The trial court's findings regarding Mr. Ence's contributions are in error because there is insufficient evidence to support them.

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