1995

Wendalyn Ence nka Wendalyn Smith v. Larry D. Ence : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court did not err in awarding alimony to Husband. First, the trial court entered sufficient findings upon which the award was based. The trial court specifically set forth findings regarding Husband's need, Wife's ability to pay, Husband's ability to provide sufficient income for himself, and the length of the marriage. Second, the trial court based the award on the parties' specific situation, as presented in the record. Both statutory and case law support Husband's alimony award in that Husband substantially contributed to Wife's ability to obtain her current career level, and based upon the parties' incomes.

Further, this court should not attempt to alter settled law to require specific guidelines for establishing compensation alimony as suggested by Wife. Current Utah law, as well as the law in other jurisdictions, emphasize the need for equitable determinations in alimony cases, in which the trial court is allowed broad discretion and is able to view the particular circumstances of the individual cases in their totality.

However, the trial court did err in failing to equalize the parties' income. The parties in this matter were married for twenty-one years, during which Husband provided nearly the sole monetary support for the family while Wife was able to attend college, medical school, and residency, eventually becoming a medical doctor. Just as Wife completed her residency and was finally able to utilize her degree to earn a substantial income, Wife filed this divorce action. Husband has supported Wife for twenty-one years, helped raise two children to adulthood, has a limited education and few job skills, and is fifteen years older than Wife. Additionally, Wife has sufficient income in excess of expenses to accommodate an equalization of income. Thus, this is a proper case for the court to equalize the parties' income levels through the alimony award.

Finally, the trial court erred in its award of attorney's fees and Husband should have been awarded the entire amount of \$3,000, as requested.

Thus, this court should affirm the lower court's decision in part and reverse the lower court's decision in part, as outlined above. Husband should get his fees in this appeal.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN AWARDING ALIMONY TO HUSBAND INASMUCH AS HUSBAND SUBSTANTIALLY CONTRIBUTED TO THE PARTIES' TWENTY-ONE YEAR MARRIAGE.

Wife has alleged in her brief that the trial court abused its discretion in its alimony award to Husband. Wife has claimed that the trial court's findings were insufficient to support the award, that the trial court did not enter specific findings as to how it arrived at the amount and duration of the award, and that there was insufficient evidence to support the trial court's finding that Husband contributed significantly and substantially to Wife's medical school career.

An alimony award is committed to the sound discretion of the trial court and may not be disturbed absent a clear and prejudicial abuse of discretion. Breinholt v. Breinholt, 905 P.2d 877 (Utah Ct. App. 1995). The trial court's findings of fact are only erroneous when the reviewing court is left with the definite and firm conviction that a mistake has been committed. Schindler v.

Schindler, 776 P.2d 84, 88 (Utah Ct. App. 1989). Further, even though appellate courts may weigh the evidence and substitute their judgment for that of the trial court, this is not done lightly nor merely because the appellate court's judgment may differ from that of the trial court's judgment. Peterson v. Peterson, 737 P.2d 237, 239 (Utah Ct. App. 1987).

Husband will show first that the trial court's findings of fact were sufficient; second, that the trial court entered specific findings supporting the alimony award; and third, that the record contains sufficient evidence to prove that Husband contributed to Wife's medical career.

A. The Trial Court's Findings of Fact Were Sufficient to Support the Alimony Award.

The findings of fact in this matter were sufficiently detailed and comprehensive to support the award of alimony to Husband. Case law and statutory provisions have set forth the necessary requirements for establishing alimony in Utah divorces.

"Utah courts have held that '[a]n alimony award should, after a marriage . . . and to the extent possible, equalize the parties' respective standards of living and maintain them at a level as close as possible to that standard of living enjoyed during the marriage.'" Godfrey v. Godfrey, 854 P.2d 585, 589 (Utah Ct. App. 1993), citing Gardner v. Gardner, 748 P.2d 1076, 1081 (Utah 1988); see also Jones v. Jones, 700 P.2d 1072, 1075 (Utah 1985); Roberts

v. Roberts, 835 P.2d 193, 198 (Utah Ct. App. 1992); Bell v. Bell, 810 P.2d 489, 491 (Utah Ct. App. 1991).

"In light of this goal, the trial court must consider: '(1) the financial conditions and needs of the receiving spouse; (2) the ability of the receiving spouse to produce a sufficient income; and (3) the ability of the supporting spouse to provide support.'" Godfrey, at 589, quoting Roberts, 835 P.2d at 198; see also Jones, 700 P.2d at 1075, Chambers v. Chambers, 840 P.2d 841, 843 (Utah Ct. App. 1992); Schindler v. Schindler, 776 P.2d 84, 90 (Utah Ct. App. 1989).

These three factors, known as the Jones factors, have been incorporated into the Utah alimony statute. The statute also adds a fourth factor which trial courts must consider in fashioning an alimony award. The statute provides as follows:

- (7) (a) The court shall consider at least the following factors in determining alimony;
 - (i) the financial condition and needs of the recipient spouse;
 - (ii) the recipient's earning capacity or ability to produce income;
 - (iii) the ability of the payor spouse to provide support; and
 - (iv) the length of the marriage.

Utah Code Ann. § 30-3-5(7)(a) (Supp. 1996).

"Failure to consider these factors in fashioning an alimony award constitutes an abuse of discretion." Godfrey, at 589, citing Bell, 810 P.2d at 492.

Wife has alleged that the trial court failed to consider these factors. However, the trial court, while not specifically categorizing its findings as Jones factors, considered the same, stating that:

a. The parties' marriage is of long duration, having lasted approximately 21 years; and

b. The parties' have jointly raised two children to maturity during this marriage; and

c. Plaintiff is 41 years of age; and

d. Defendant is 56 years of age; and

. . .

i. The combined historical annual income of the family is approximately as follows: 1987, \$51,000; 1988, \$41,000; 1989, \$36,000; 1990, \$36,000; 1991, \$30,000; 1992, \$34,000; 1993, \$57,000; and 1994 \$100,000; and

j. The Plaintiff's gross income is currently \$120,000 per year and defendant's current gross income is \$25,000 per year; and

k. Plaintiff's income, net of taxes, is \$7,000.00 per month and defendant's income, net of taxes, is \$1,600.00 per month; and

. . .

q. The alimony ward in this case is based upon a reasonable standard of living for the defendant.

(Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law #13). Accordingly, the court specifically noted Husband's financial condition and needs, explaining the prior joint income of the parties as well as Husband's current income. Husband's needs were noted in the provision which states that the alimony award was based on a reasonable standard of living. The court noted Husband's earning capacity specifically, explaining the prior earnings of the parties (and noting that prior to 1993 the great majority of all of the income of the parties throughout the lengthy marriage was produced by Husband), and citing Husband's current income. Finally, the court noted Wife's ability to pay by explaining Wife's current income, less taxes, and comparing the same to Husband's current income (which shows that Wife earns \$5,400.00 more per month than Husband after taxes).

Within her brief, Wife has alleged that Husband showed no need for alimony through testimony or exhibits and that therefore Husband's need does not exist. In fact, Wife specifically mentions that "the only evidence as to [Husband's] monthly expenses is his testimony that his rent is \$500.00 per month (Tr. at 161), and he was ordered to pay one-half of the approximately \$635.00 per month house payment until the house is sold. (Tr. at 19, Findings of Fact

#5; R. at 97). However, Wife fails to mention that inherent within this testimony lies Husband's need for alimony. Husband's \$500.00 per month rent is for a 25 foot long camper trailer in which he resides in a relative's back yard in St. George. (Tr. 161). Thus, not only does Husband not have the money on his own to purchase a home, but Husband has insufficient monetary support, on his own, to rent an apartment. Further, Wife mentions in her brief that Husband "further testified that if he lived in an apartment he would have to come up with first and last months rent, implying he doesn't have the money; however, he was given and used \$1,000 to go to golf school." (Appellant's Brief at 18). Wife again fails to set forth the full context of Husband's testimony, in which Husband testified that, although Husband did in fact accept a golf school vacation near the end of 1994 and/or beginning of 1995, the same was a gift from the parties' son. (Tr. 161-162).

Further, Wife alleges in her brief that the court did not enter sufficient findings regarding Husband's earning capacity, specifically stating that "[t]here are no findings as to why [Husband] is earning less at the time of trial than he earned previously." (Appellant's Brief at 19). The trial court is not required, per statute or case law, to enter such a specific finding. However, the court based its findings on all of the evidence before it, and Husband testified during trial that he is

a heavy equipment operator (Tr. 134). Husband testified that his only employment skills are to operate heavy equipment or ride horses. (Tr. at 134). Husband testified that there isn't much employment available riding horses. (Tr. at 134). Husband also testified that he has no college training and his educational background consists of high school. (Tr. at 133). Husband had been a heavy equipment operator since 1956. (Tr. at 134). Husband had been a union member since approximately 1960. (Tr. at 135). Husband had earned approximately \$18.52 per hour when Wife was in medical school. (Tr. at 143). However, the company for which Husband worked at the time was purchased and Husband's pay was reduced to \$14.50 per hour. (Tr. at 145). Husband was eventually given a raise to \$15.00 per hour. (Tr. at 147). When the parties eventually moved to Ogden, Utah for Wife's residency, Husband looked for employment. (Tr. 148). Because Utah is not a union state, Husband found that \$10.00 per hour was the highest wage he could find. (Tr. at 149). Husband eventually found employment, but his employer failed to pay him. (Tr. at 149-150). Husband then stayed home with the parties' children, pursuant to an agreement between the parties. (Tr. 151). Finally, after the parties separated Husband looked for work and was able to find work in St. George, Utah. (Tr. at 172-173). Husband attempted to return to his employment in Arizona at the rate of \$15.00 per hour, but the

company was not hiring and Husband was unable to find any other union work in Arizona. (Tr. at 173). Husband therefore earned \$12.00 per hour as a heavy equipment operator for Delray Jackson Construction in St. George, Utah at time of trial. (Tr. at 173-73). Therefore, the trial court had ample testimony before it which explained Husband's decreased income.

Further, Wife claims that the trial court made no underlying factual determination of Wife's ability to pay support. However, this argument is misplaced. Wife entered exhibits which set forth her monthly income and expenses, thereby providing the court with the underlying factual determination of her ability to pay support. Wife's exhibit number 17 was summarized by Husband's counsel in closing argument as follows:

Her paycheck shows a net of \$7,664.69. Her expenses are \$4,104.00 a month. And that's her expenses on Exhibit 17. Her current expenses, \$4,104.00 a month. And that's allowing for things like buying herself a building lot in Willard of \$734.00 a month. And that's allowing for things like \$250.00 a month for clothing. That's continuing to carry insurance for adult children. That's putting an adult child through college or university. That's \$300.00 a month entertainment. Pet care of \$200.00 a month. She has a \$100.00 vacation allowance, \$200.00 a month gift allowance, \$75.00 a month for dentist. And she comes up with \$4,104.00 in expenses against \$7,664.00 a month net. She is \$3,561.00 per month to the good while her husband of 21 years is still living in a camp trailer and can't muster first and last month's rent to get into even an apartment.

(Tr. at 198-99).

Thus, the trial court did not abuse its discretion and met the findings of fact requirements as set forth by Utah case law and statute.

B. The Trial Court Did Not Err In Setting Forth Its Findings of Fact Showing The Basis for the Alimony Award and Further Set Forth Sufficient Findings to Support the Finding That Husband Contributed To Wife's Medical School Career.

The trial court entered specific Findings of Fact which provided a basis for the alimony award in this matter. Wife has claimed in her brief that the trial court failed to enter such findings. Wife's argument on this point consists of a recital of the evolution of Utah case law.

Wife has set forth the following cases for the proposition that the recipient spouse had become economically disadvantaged during a long-term marriage: Tremayne v. Tremayne, 116 Utah 483 (Utah 1949); Peterson v. Peterson, 737 P.2d 237 (Utah Ct. App. 1987); Rayburn v. Rayburn, 738 P.2d 238 (Utah Ct. App. 1987); Martinez v. Martinez, 818 P.2d 538 (Utah 1991); Higley v. Higley, 676 P.2d 379 (Utah 1983); Jones v. Jones, 700 P.2d 1072 (Utah 1985); Gardner v. Gardner, 748 P.2d 1076 (Utah 1988); and Rasband v. Rasband, 752 P.2d 1331 (Utah Ct. App. 1988).

Wife has claimed that the common thread in all of the above cases was that the recipient spouse took herself out of the work force for a lengthy period during a long term marriage to be a

homemaker and/or for health reasons and thereby became economically disadvantaged in an absolute sense. (Appellant's Brief at 26). Wife's reading of the case law is skewed. The same cases may be seen to stand for the proposition that, when the marriage is of long duration, in which both parties sacrificed and worked toward the common good of the family, the spouse with smaller earning potential should be entitled to long-term (if not permanent) alimony.

The Utah Court of Appeals and the Utah Supreme Court have consistently overruled temporary alimony decisions or small awards in cases of long-term marriages. Several of these cases are analogous to the facts in this matter.

In Andersen v. Andersen, 757 P.2d 476 (Utah Ct. App. 1988), the wife was in her fifties, had spent most of her life providing services to her family with no monetary remuneration, and had minimal work experience. The Utah Court of Appeals found that she could not be expected to find a job immediately upon completing her schooling, and that her salary, when she did find employment, was unknown. Id. at 478. Thus, the court overruled a temporary alimony award. Id. at 479.

The fact situation in Munns v. Munns, 790 P.2d 116 (Utah Ct. App. 1990) was as follows: the wife was a woman in her late fifties, who, while in reasonably good health, had never been

substantially employed and had not developed any employable skills. The court found that the trial court had therefore abused its discretion in terminating her alimony at age sixty-two. Id. at 122.

In Throckmorton v. Throckmorton, 767 P.2d 121, 125 (Utah Ct. App. 1988), the wife filed a modification petition to increase alimony from \$1.00 per year to \$500.00 per month. The trial court awarded \$396.00 per month, based upon its findings that wife was unable to produce sufficient income for herself due to her medical problems, and husband was able to provide support due to his annual retirement income of \$18,000.00.

The court in Olson v. Olson, 704 P.2d 564 (Utah 1985), held a two-year alimony award was an abuse of discretion, based upon the facts that the wife was married soon after high school, her primary occupation during the twenty-odd year marriage was caring for the parties' home and six children, she had only worked at two clerical jobs briefly during the marriage, and had no reasonable expectation of obtaining employment two years hence that would enable her to support herself at a standard of living even approaching that which she had during the marriage. Accordingly, the Utah Supreme Court overturned the alimony award to award permanent alimony to the wife.

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